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DEDICATION

Writing this book was an interesting challenge. I rejected the idea of writing a book about my experiences in professional wrestling for a long time for a variety of reasons, including the fact that I just didn’t think my story was all that interesting. But as time has passed, and as I’ve watched the evolution of the sports entertainment industry, I have begun to appreciate just how much the business has changed as a result of many of the things I was so closely associated with.

One of the biggest challenges for me was going back and remembering the key moments—the pivot points as I like to refer to them—that shaped the thoughts, strategies, and decisions that led to the explosive growth of WCW from the time I took over the company until the time I left in 1999. So many things happened in such a relatively short period of time that, for a guy who tends not to dwell on the past, it was like visiting an old friend I hadn’t seen in years and reliving experiences I had long since forgotten about.

People warned me that writing this book would be difficult. The truth is that it wasn’t. That’s in large part because of Jeremy Roberts. Jeremy is the writer that spent untold hours with me, helping me to remember, organize, and structure my story in a way that would have otherwise been a vertigo-inducing literary train wreck.

Writing the book was relatively easy. The hard part was writing this dedication.

It is hard because there is more than one person to whom I want to dedicate this book. There is my wife, Loree, who has believed in, supported, motivated, and tolerated more of me than I ever thought possible. There are others, some of whom I credit in the following pages that gave me the opportunities to achieve what most people thought was impossible.

In the end though, the person I want to dedicate this book to is my mother. As I write this, she is in the third day of her second battle with cancer. The first go-round was about two years ago. My mother accepted the fight—took everything the bastard had to give—and walked out of the hospital a champion. In the process of watching her win this fight, I realized just how tough a woman could be. I learned what a positive attitude and a strong will truly is.

Three days ago she called and told us the news. She is in for a rematch. Characteristically, she has accepted the fight with dignity, strength, and a will to win.

So Mom, this book is dedicated to you.

Kick the bastard’s ass.



CONTENTS





	Prologue

	“Give Me a Big Hug”




	1

	Throwing Rocks




	2

	Ken Doll




	3

	WCW: The Early Days




	4

	Running the Show




	5

	Hulk Hogan




	6

	Prime Time




	7

	The Revolution Takes Hold




	8

	Too Much




	9

	Unraveling




	10

	Return to Hell




	11

	The Art of the Non-Deal




	12

	Meet the Devil




	EPILOGUE

	Never Say Never




	 
	Photographic Insert





 

CONTROVERSY CREATES CASH

[image: Image]



PROLOGUE
“Give Me a Big Hug”

East Rutherford, N.J., July 15, 2002: I’m sitting in the back of a stretch limo in the parking lot of Continental Airlines Arena, waiting to make my appearance on a televised wrestling show. I’ve been on television hundreds of times before, on hundreds of wrestling shows, but tonight is going to be different—very different.

Tonight I’m appearing on the show I almost put out of business. And the person pulling open the car door to welcome me is the guy I almost forced into bankruptcy: Vince McMahon.

Could anyone have predicted this day would come? Never! But that’s the thing about wrestling. There’s a saying in our business: Never say never.

“How are you feeling?” Vince asks.

“Great.”

“Nervous?” “Not at all. Excited.”

Vince looks at me for a second, like he’s not quite sure he believes me. We go over what we’re going to do onstage.

This is only the second time in my life that I’ve met Vince McMahon face to face. The first was more than a decade before, when he said hello to me after a job interview in Stamford. I didn’t get the job.

I didn’t deserve it. The history of pro wrestling might have been very different if I had.

The funny thing is, I feel as if I really know Vince well. We’re like two soldiers back from a war; we’ve been through the same battles, albeit on different sides.

“Here’s what I’d like you to do,” Vince tells me. “When you hear me announce the new general manager of Raw, and you hear your music start to play—come out, acknowledge the crowd, shake my “hand, and give me a big bear hug! And milk it for all it’s worth… .”

He gets out of the car. Inside the arena, the crowd is hopping. They’ve been told Raw is getting a new general manager, one guaranteed to shake things up.

There’s an understatement for you.

If you’re a wrestling fan, you probably know that Raw is World Wrestling Entertainment’s flagship Monday-night television show. You probably also know that Vince McMahon is the chairman of World Wrestling Entertainment, better known as WWE.

What you may not know is that almost everything that makes Raw distinctive—its two-hour live format, its backstage interview segments, above all its reality-based storylines—was introduced first on Monday Night Nitro, the prime-time show I created for the TNT Network. For nearly three years, my company World Championship Wrestling, kicked Vince McMahon’s ass. Nitro, WCW’s flagship show, revolutionized wrestling. The media called our conflict the Monday Night Wars, but it was more like a rout. Nitro beat Raw in the ratings eighty-something weeks running.

Then Vince caught on to what we were doing, and the real battle began.

Unfortunately for me, and the wrestling business in general, the fight wasn’t really between WCW and WWE, which was called World Wrestling Federation at the time. In fact, the real battle was between WCW and the corporate suits who took over Turner Broadcasting with the merger of Time Warner and then AOL. That was a fight I was never capable of winning, though, being stubborn by nature, I didn’t realize it until it was nearly over.

Stephanie McMahon pops her head into the limo. Stephanie, Vince’s daughter and one of the company’s vice presidents, has come to take me in to the show.

Ready? she asks.

I’m ready.

Nervous?

Excited.

She stares at me a second, probably convinced I’m lying. I’m sure she thinks I’m a train wreck. The auditorium is packed with people who hate my guts, or I should say hate my character’s guts.

Not too many people bother to distinguish between the character I play on television and who I really am. Worse, a lot of people think they know who I am because of what they’ve read on the Internet or in the “dirt sheets,” the newsletters that cover the wrestling business for fans.

Wrestling fan sites are generally populated by people with too much time on their hands, who have very little real insight into what’s going on in the wrestling business. A lot of them create their own stories and realities just to watch other people react to them. As a result of that, there’s a lot of misinformation floating around out there about a lot of people, not just me.

Which is one of the reasons I decided to write this book.

The truth is, I hate most wrestling books. I read a sentence, a paragraph, sometimes a page, then quit. They don’t take a serious look at the enterprise. Most are bitter, self-serving revisionist history at best—and monuments to bullshit at their worst. A lot of the guys who write them seem desperate to have the last word on everything. Rather than telling people what we’re really all about, they refight old battles that everyone but them has forgotten. They come off like whiners, complaining about everything.

That’s not me.

I’ve had some bumps and bad breaks. Everyone does in life. But pro wrestling for me has been full of good things. I started out as a salesman and then, by necessity rather than ability, became an on-camera talent. I went from that to being chosen, improbably, to head the second largest wrestling promotion in the country. We were a distant second to Vince McMahon’s company, bleeding money every year. With hard work and against heavy odds, we became number one. What had been a company generating 10 million in losses on 24 million worth of revenue, became a company with 350 million in sales pumping out over 40 million in profit. Then things went to hell. After a wild roller-coaster ride I ended up back where I had started—as an on-air talent, ironically, with the guy I had been at war with for years.

And ultimately we became friends.

Let’s go, says Stephanie. You’re on in a few minutes.

We get out of the car and begin walking through the backstage area. My appearance has been a well-kept secret until now, and the looks of shock on the wrestlers’ faces as I pass confirms it.

I can hear the crowd in the arena as I reach the holding area backstage. WWE writers have given me a two-page script to memorize, and the words are bouncing in my head. The funny thing is, I’ve rarely had to memorize a script before—all these years on camera, I’ve improvised my lines. But not tonight. The writers for WWE have spent a fair amount of time on this script; my job tonight is to deliver what they want.

But even before I look at the words, I know what I have to do tonight. I have to find my inner heel. Once I’m out there, the adrenaline will take over, and I’ll be fine.

There’s a hush outside. Vince McMahon has come onstage and is about to introduce me.

Wrestling began in the United States as a sideshow carnival attraction. It thrived and grew because it blended showmanship, unique characters, and illusion. It still does, in some respects. But it’s also a business, and a very sophisticated one at that. The business structure and revenue model are extremely complex. No other form of entertainment, quite frankly, combines the different revenue streams and opportunities that WCW had, or that WWE has now. I hope to give you some idea of that complexity in this book.

What happened to WCW while I was there is as much about business as it is about wrestling. A lot of wrestling fans think WCW unraveled because of things like guaranteed contracts for wrestlers and the decision to give Hulk Hogan creative control over his matches.

The fact that we may have overpaid some wrestlers was one reason WCW ended up in a position that was difficult to recover from. But it had nothing to do with why WCW failed. If our talent budget was half of what it was, in the end, it would have made no difference. The company failed because of what happened inside Turner after it was bought by Time Warner. Turner’s merger with Time Warner, and Time Warner’s ultimate merger with AOL, was the single largest disaster in modern business history. WCW was just one of many casualties. There was a lot of collateral damage. Even Ted Turner suffered in the fallout.

Did I make mistakes? Sure. I’ll list a few of the bigger ones here. But I’m tired of hearing things like, Eric Bischoff killed WCW because he overpaid wrestlers and was a Hollywood guy and so on. That’s all bull. Take Eric Bischoff out of the equation, and WCW still goes down in flames, maybe even faster.

What happened to WCW is a cautionary tale. My story isn’t just about wrestling and sports entertainment, but about what happens to creative enterprises and individuals when they get caught in the maul of a modern conglomerate and the short-term “meet Wall Street expectations” thinking that’s so prevalent today.
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I know I’m not going to convince every reader who picks this book up that what I say is the absolute truth. It’s possible that I’ve remembered some things subjectively or have a very one-sided view of them. Plenty has been written about WCW and my time there. But none of the stories of its demise have come from someone who was there. It’s been written by people who were either just making shit up or hearing rumors. I was there, on the front lines. They weren’t.

I’m on. I walk out toward the man who was my most bitter enemy for four or five years. We embrace.

That rumbling beneath your feet, I tell Vince, is a whole lot of people turning over in their graves.
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I’m about six here.



1
Throwing Rocks

Early Days

Motor City Boy

A lot of what people think they know about me is wrong. So let’s start from the beginning.

I was born on May 27, 1955, in Detroit, Michigan. I lived there until I was twelve. I hated it.

We lived near the city line in a lower-middle-income area. It wasn’t a great place. I did have a great mom and dad, though. My father—Kenneth—was a hardworking guy who had a pretty tough life. He was born prematurely in 1930. His spinal cord hadn’t developed properly. There was a hole at the top of his spine, and as he grew older, it filled up with fluid. That gave him terrible, debilitating headaches. Even so, he was very active. He spent a lot of spare time hunting and fishing, and loved the outdoors.

My mom Carol was a typical 1950s housewife, very devoted to her family. She stayed home caring for me, my younger brother Mark, and my sister Lori while my father worked as a draftsman at American Standard. My mother was also an extremely hard worker. She taught me in her own way to dream big.

Dreadful Surgery

About the time I was five or six, my father’s headaches got so bad that he decided to try brain surgery to relieve the pain. I remember sitting on the couch, waiting, while my mom took him to the hospital, looking out the window, worried because my mom was worried, not understanding really what was going on.

When my father came out of that brain surgery, his headaches were gone. But he no longer had the use of his hands and had limited use of his arms. He couldn’t even brush his teeth. For an active guy with a lot of pride who loved the outdoors and hunting, it was as if his manhood had been taken away.

It had a profound effect on him. He couldn’t work as a draftsman anymore, so he became a purchasing agent. He became a workaholic in a good sense—he had a strong work ethic and just kept at it. But he became bitter.

My mom now had to take care of him as well as us kids. She was tough, one of the toughest women I know. Still is. When you’ve got a family of five living in a small house in a hard neighborhood, and all the kids turn out okay, then you know you’ve done something special.

My dad’s mom, my grandmother Agnes, used to stay with us for a few months at a time while I was growing up. She was a tough old German farm broad, as ornery as any wrestler. More so. She could have made Stone Cold Steve Austin cry like a baby with a glance.

She also smoked like a chimney. To this day I can’t stand cigarette smoke—or walk into a room filled with smoke—without thinking of her.

I went to Dort Elementary School, the same school rap star Eminem went to, quite a number of years later. It was a tough school in a tough neighborhood. There was really nothing good about it. I hated most of my classes, with the exception of geography and history. I loved to think about faraway places like China, India, Japan, and Europe, and often daydreamed about going to those places we were supposed to be learning about—generally during class, when the teacher wanted me to pay attention to something else.

Rocks

Even the games we played were rough. One game we would play was “army.” Back in the sixties, a lot of TV shows, like Combat and Twelve O’Clock High, romanticized characters and events that took place during World War II. We copied them when we played. All of the kids from the neighborhood would choose teams, much like the way kids choose baseball teams. One team would be the Germans, and one would be the Americans. We didn’t play with toy guns. Instead, we would literally have rock fights. We would chase each other through the neighborhood, throwing rocks and clumps of dirt at each other. The nurses in the emergency room at Saratoga Hospital on Gratiot Avenue knew me on a first-name basis.

Big-Time Wrestling

I was about eight years old when I discovered professional wrestling.

My father used to work Saturday mornings. We only had one car, so my mother would drive my father to work, drop my grandmother off at my aunt and uncle’s for the day, and go grocery shopping. I’d stay at home with my younger brother while they were gone. We had the house to ourselves! We’d start the morning with some cartoons, raid the freezer, and make a gallon or so of chocolate malt. Then we’d catch Dick Clark’s American Bandstand, and finally top things off with wrestling— Big Time Wrestling on CKLW, Channel 9, to be exact. I remember seeing the Sheik, Killer Kowalski, and Bobo Brazil, among others.
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My brother Mark and one of his friends outside our house in Detroit.

My brother and I would practice the moves we saw on the living room floor. We got so we would script our fight scenes out and go through them in slow motion.

In those days, pro wrestling was divided into territories around the country. Every region had a different set of wrestlers, with their own “world champion.” There were several large regional promotions with their own stars. Each had its own “world champion.” But because this was the early sixties, before cable television, most viewers didn’t realize that. Nor did they know anything about what happened behind the scenes. Even though matches were now being televised, wrestling was still very close to its original roots as a carnival sideshow. Kayfabe, the private language used by those in the business, ruled the industry.


The Working Life

I got my first job when I was six or seven, or maybe eight. An Italian couple owned a little grocery store named Lucy’s down the block from my house. I used to hang around there a lot, and one day the owners asked me to pick up the litter in the parking lot and around the store. When I was done, I got to reach into the cash register; whatever coins I could get in my hands in one try was what I was paid. Soon I graduated to sorting and stacking their returned bottles. I’ve been working ever since.

School got tougher and tougher. From fifth grade or so, I was in at least one fight a day. I’d get into a fistfight on my way to school, and more often than not one on the way home. I rarely came out on top. I was kind of a scrawny kid and not very good with my fists, but that didn’t matter much. The older kids were always picking on the younger kids, bigger kids always beating on smaller. Violence was a way to entertain yourself in Detroit, and it escalated as I got older. Kids brought weapons like lead pipes and knives to school. It was a small-time arms race.

Showdown for $7

The very last day I spent in Detroit, I purposely brought seven dollars to school. This was a time when thirty-five cents bought lunch, and having even that in your pocket was like walking with a sign around your neck volunteering for an ass-kicking.

But I said to myself, I’m going to have some fun today. I let everybody know I had seven dollars. By the time shop class came around toward the end of the day, there was a buzz going around: Bischoff’s carrying money.

The thing about shop class was that the teacher always left early. Always. We’d sit in the class listening to the end-of-the-day announcements, and he’d be gone.

As soon as the teacher left, a kid came in to confront me. He hung with a tougher crowd, but he wasn’t much himself. I pulled a metal handle from one of the vises sitting in the shop area and creased the top of his head with it. Then the bell rang, and it was time to go home.

For about twelve hours, I was a legend in the school. Of course, if I’d had to go back the next day, his friends would have beaten the hell out of me. But I didn’t. We were off to Pittsburgh.

Moving Up

Pittsburgh

In 1968, when I was in eighth grade, my dad got a job opportunity in Pittsburgh. We packed up and moved to suburban Penn Hills, Pennsylvania. We thought we’d died and gone to heaven.

The development we lived in was more middle class, a definite step up from Detroit. Our house was twice as big as our old one. It had a finished basement where Mark, Lori and I could play. There were woods in the backyard where we could build tree forts and camp out at night, and a creek where we could catch crawfish. It was just amazing to see hills and mountains all around instead of city streets.

Saturday-morning wrestling was replaced with Saturday-night wrestling, but my brother Mark and I were still big fans. This was the first time I realized there were different “world champions” in every part of the country. Bruno Sammartino was the champion in Pittsburgh.

Sammartino began wrestling in 1959. During the 1960s, he was wrestling for what was then WWWF (now WWE), and already known as a wrestling legend. He was the shit at the time.

Besides his ability as a wrestler, Sammartino was a real and believable character. He was the workingman. Pittsburgh was a blue-collar town, with the steel mills and other industries. Sammartino really represented that, which was one of the reasons I think he was so popular.

[image: Image]

Pittsburgh. “Born to be wild.”

He was also a local guy, and as it happened, he lived not too far away from our home. My friends and I used to cruise by his house on our bikes, hoping to maybe catch a glimpse of him. We never did, but we felt privileged just to live close by.

Wrestling

School in Penn Hills was very different than what I’d been used to in Detroit, and the only real fighting I did was as a wrestler. I believe I started out in the 126-pound weight class in junior high. I was an average wrestler, real average—not horrible, just real average. But I enjoyed it. I’d grown up fighting, and this was an organized way to do it.

I also continued to work. My neighbor, a guy named Bob Racioppi, hired me to do odd jobs and light construction around his home. He became kind of a big brother to me, doing things with me that my dad could no longer do, like hunting. He introduced me to martial arts, showing me some moves and whetting my appetite for karate. Then he got me my first job with a roofing company when I was fourteen.

I don’t know if you’re born with confidence, or if it’s generated by the way you’re brought up. Part of it for me, a big part, was the work ethic my father instilled in me. It lent itself to success. I’ve al ways felt a lot of confidence, and succeeded in what I set out to do by hard work. I give my father credit for that, and my mother credit for developing a desire to grow and not to settle for less.

Minneapolis & Wrestling

In 1970, when I was in tenth grade, my father got a new job in Minneapolis. I didn’t really want to leave Pittsburgh. I had great friends there and really felt at home. But it wasn’t up for a vote. It happened that the son of the real estate agent who sold us our home was the captain of the high school wrestling team and about my age. He introduced me to the coach and some of his teammates, and helped me fit in.

Wrestling quickly became one of the few things I really liked about school. I lettered when I was a junior, though I was never really a standout when it came to tournaments. I enjoyed it, and it was really where I made most of my friends. Besides wrestling on the school team, I joined a club that competed with others throughout the region.

Drugs

This was the late sixties and early seventies, when legend has it that everyone did drugs. But the facts are different. I was never into drugs myself, and neither were most of my friends.

One time I was tempted to try speed, the nickname for a particular kind of amphetamine. There was a girl I knew, a pretty popular girl, who experimented with Black Beauties in school. I saw her in the morning, and she could hardly stand still. Later on I saw her in the hallway, and blood was coming out of her mouth. She was so “speedy,” she had literally chewed the inside of her mouth bloody. That convinced me to pass on the whole damn idea.

As I got older, I experimented with pot like a lot of other people did. I never really enjoyed that much either. Sitting around staring at a television and laughing about stupid shit you couldn’t remember the next day just didn’t appeal to me.

What I did like was riding motorcycles. I started riding a minibike when I was about ten and graduated to motorcycles when I turned sixteen. My first bike was a Honda 160. I soon traded that in for a Honda Super Hawk. The Super Hawk was a milestone motorcycle of the early 1960s, with overhead cams and a 305cc engine that redlined at 9,200 rpms. I went through maybe a half dozen bikes, each one getting bigger and faster, until I got a Kawasaki 900. At just over five hundred pounds, the bike could produce 82 horsepower. It was a rocket.

About the craziest thing I ever tried to do on a bike was jump the Kawasaki. Jumping dirt bikes is one thing; launching a heavy street bike like that is something else. On about the fourth or fifth attempt I crashed midair into the side of a garage next to my friend’s house. I tore the bike up pretty good. That was the end of my motorcycle jumping career.

Verne Gagne & the AWA

Verne Gagne’s All-Star Wrestling Show was big in the Minnesota area at the time, a must-watch for me every Saturday night at six.

A former marine and amateur college wrestler, Gagne had started wrestling professionally in 1948. He founded the American Wrestling Association in 1960, and within a few years built it into one of the country’s strongest promotions. Besides Minnesota, the AWA promoted wrestling in territories in the Midwest, Las Vegas, San Francisco, and a few other smaller cities and towns. Verne and his son Greg Gagne were among the featured wrestlers, with guys like Nick Bockwinkel and Chief Wahoo McDaniel, Larry “the Axe” Hennig, who had a head as big as a Corvair, Baron Von Raschke, and Ray “the Crippler” Stevens, among other stars.

I still remember enjoying a few of the big shows the AWA held in Minnesota. The promotion had an annual Thanksgiving show. Watching wrestling was just the thing to do after sitting around the house stuffing your face all day.

Meeting the Man

I met Verne Gagne once or twice over the course of my high school wrestling career. Verne lived in a little town called Mound, Minnesota, which was just three miles down the road from where I lived. Much like we did with Bruno Sammartino, we’d drive by Verne Gagne’s neighborhood and hope that we might see him by his house.

When I was a senior, my AAU freestyle wrestling team was selected to compete against a team from Sweden that was touring the United States. We needed to sell tickets and get the word out, but we had no money for advertising.

Verne supported amateur wrestling in a lot of ways, often using his show to help different amateur teams get publicity So I came up with the idea of calling him and maybe getting a plug on one of his wrestling shows. I called the AWA offices and talked to Wally Karbo. Karbo was the “face” of AWA, the guy who viewers at home saw promoting the event.

“Hey, I’m Eric Bischoff,” I told Karbo when the receptionist turned the call over to him. The words jetted out of my mouth. “I’m with the Minnetonka wrestling team, we’re taking on Sweden, we need some support. Is there any way I can come on the air and do an interview and let people know when we’re wrestling, where we’re wrestling, and try and sell some tickets?”

“Sure, kid,” he said to my breathless surprise. “Come on down to the studio, and we’ll get you on the air.”

I was ecstatic. I couldn’t believe it.

My buddies and I drove over to Channel 11 on Saturday morning. We were sitting outside the building, waiting for the appointed time to arrive, when we saw Greg Gagne and Jim Brunzell come walking in. They wrestled as the High Flyers, the World Tag Team Champions at AWA. Then we saw Wahoo McDaniel, then Ray Stevens, Larry Hennig—we saw all these stars in person.

It was amazing. And we knew we were going to be on the same show they were going to be on. For real.

We went inside, and they gave us a place to wait right in the studio itself, near the television cameras. Sure enough, out came Wally Karbo and an announcer by the name of Marty O’Neill. Marty had an old-time cigarette-and-Scotch-whisky voice, a rasp that told anyone listening that something exciting was going to happen right now . He was about five feet nothing, sixty or seventy years old, and looked like an old-school carnival barker. Marty was the AWA’s “stick man,” the guy who conducted all of the interviews.

The camera went on a few feet away, and Marty starts inter viewing Wally Carbo. And Wally says, “Yeah, Marty, we got a guy in here we want to bring in, and he has something he wants to talk about. His name’s Eric Bischoff. Eric, come on in here.”

So I went. I kind of looked into the camera and spilled out all this information. I was scared to death—but I was excited at the same time.

I don’t recall how we did in the match, but I’m sure we got our butts kicked. Europeans were much better at freestyle than we were. But that was my first appearance on television.

Working for a Living

I worked all through high school, in just about any job you can think of. I ran a Bobcat bulldozer, drove a dump truck, flipped pancakes, and even worked in an animal hospital cleaning up after the dogs, cats, monkeys—you name it, I cleaned up after it. I’d take whatever I could to make money part-time during school and full-time during the summer.

I really wasn’t that concerned with my studies. If it wasn’t for wrestling, I probably wouldn’t have stayed in high school at all. Money interested me a lot more than academics. I wasn’t necessarily thinking clearly at the time, but school just wasn’t my thing.

In the spring of 1973, when I was a senior, I blew out my knee wrestling a kid by the name of Joe Boyer. Joe was real strong—farm strong. He had great upper-body strength and a low center of gravity which combined to make him hard to take down.

He and I locked up at the start of the match. I tried to do a lateral drop. He overpowered me, reversed the lateral drop, and muscled me over so hard that my upper body went in one direction and my right knee the other.

There was a loud pop and a snap. It wasn’t so much painful as eerie. My leg felt as if didn’t belong to me anymore.

My knee swelled up to the size of a small cantaloupe. To this day I don’t know exactly what I did, though over the years I’ve reinjured it probably two or three dozen times. I’ve never had it operated on or even looked at. Knee surgery in the seventies wasn’t as advanced as it is today. Many of my friends at the time who had knee injuries and had surgery came out worse off than they were when they went in. I just said I’ll deal with it.

While I wrestled later that summer, my knee bothered me so much that I couldn’t work out regularly. That was pretty much the end of my amateur wrestling career.

Party School

In my senior year of high school, I suddenly realized all my friends were going off to college. I had never really planned on going to college, but when you’re seventeen or eighteen years old, and your whole life has been your friends, and suddenly you realize they’re all going away, it dawns on you that you might want to go away with them.

One of my best friends from high school had decided he was going to St. Cloud State in St. Cloud, roughly an hour northwest of Minneapolis. I applied there, and for some reason—I have no idea why—they accepted me.

My friend and I shared a dorm room. I was only there for the parties and wasn’t really concerned about my studies. I did the bare minimum I had to do. Most of the time when I wasn’t partying, I worked for a freight company unloading freight cars full of lumber. Not a fun job, but it kept me in beer and pizza.

I had a great time my freshman year, but I had to leave because I couldn’t afford it. I transferred to the University of Minnesota so I could live at home and regroup my finances.

Passions

My Own Boss

For a couple of years during high school, I worked for a landscape construction company. I ended up as a foreman of my own crew during the summer before college and was pretty good at building retaining walls and overseeing some of the larger commercial projects I was assigned to. By the time I was a sophomore in college, I decided to start my own landscaping firm. In the winter I plowed snow; during the summer I maintained lawns and did construction work. It wasn’t long before I was putting in a lot more time and effort into my business than into school. I went into a partnership with a friend of mine, and we ended up building a company that by 1975 or 1976 was one of the larger commercial landscape firms in the area. During our peak season we’d probably have thirty or forty employees, with eight trucks on the road. We got a contract with the city of St. Paul to replace thousands and thousands of elm trees after Dutch elm disease hit the city, and that helped the company grow. Not long after, we were doing in excess of a million dollars a year in sales. Not bad for a couple of college kids.

More and more, college was just getting in the way. I was making more money than any three of my professors combined, and after a while it just didn’t make any sense to be going to college when I was building a business, so I officially dropped out.

By the way, that’s contrary to my “résumé” posted on a lot of Web sites. They claim I have a business degree, and studied radio and television in school. I never did any of that. I don’t even know where it came from. Someone says something in a chat room, and the next thing you know, it ends up on a Web page. It’s crazy.

I bought my first house at age twenty one, a block off the beach near Lake Minnetonka, a high-end suburb of Minneapolis. I bought a new car, had plenty of money, was living life. But as the business got bigger, I enjoyed it less and less. The pressure grew. My partner and I stopped getting along. I’ve always believed that if you’re not having fun doing what you’re doing, you shouldn’t do it. So I sold out my half of the company and took some time off.

I’d already found a new passion—martial arts.

Martial Arts

Somewhere around 1976, I enrolled in a martial arts class in tae kwan do, a Korean style of karate. My instructor was Gordon Franks, at the time the Professional Karate Association superlight champion of the world. He taught an American version of the traditional Korean fighting style that placed more emphasis on practical fighting.

I immediately fell in love with the sport. It was competitive, and something my knee would allow me to do. I really loved the contact. The school was known for being very aggressive and very physical. They prided themselves on the fact that their black belts were as tough as they could be.

I pretty much dove into it and started competing in tournaments when I was still a gold belt, which is a beginner’s level. The only drawback with competing as a gold belt was that they didn’t let you kick or punch your opponent’s head. I liked kicking people in the head, so I didn’t get real enthusiastic about the tournament format until green belt.

As I progressed, I worked out five or six hours a day and competed in tournaments all over the country, especially in the Midwest. A group of us from the karate school traveled together. The fighting was good, and the partying was better.

Karate stars have groupies just like rock stars have groupies, and there was no shortage of hot girls at the tournaments—or the parties afterward. It was just a great time. You’d fight all day and party all night. But there was no prize money, and after a while competition became pretty expensive. In 1978 I took a job as an instructor at the school, but karate teachers and their assistants don’t make much money. I was probably earning about $600 a month and spending $400 on tournaments. Economically not the smartest thing I’ve ever done.

With Friends Like Me …

My matches have long since faded to a blur, except for the one I fought with a friend of mine named Randy Reid. Randy was one of the higher-rated black belts at the time. We became friends on the circuit, partying together. Once I made black belt, I knew it was inevitable that we’d meet. And we did, at a tournament down in Cedar Rapids, Iowa.

Randy was a lot faster than I was, but I hit a lot harder. Because of my knee injury, I’d had to reverse my fighting stance, putting my right leg forward and pivoting on my left. As a result of that, I became an unnatural southpaw. A lot of people were uncomfortable fighting me, for the same reason many right-handed boxers have trouble with a lefty.

When the match started, Randy blew across the line right at me. I caught him with a straight left that splattered his nose. I knew immediately that I had broken it.

Blood was everywhere.

They stopped the fight. He decided he wanted to continue. Once they restarted the fight, the first thing I did was sweep his legs out from underneath him. He hit the floor on his back.

Randy went down, and he was right on the edge of the ring, almost out of bounds. I kind of looked at him over my shoulder and did a little “fade-away” that made him think I was going to let him get up. As he put his hands down to prop himself up, I spun and stomped on his broken nose.

Which really splattered it. I think I have a picture somewhere around the house of three or four judges with towels mopping blood up off the gymnasium floor. That was the end of the match. I lost due to “excessive contact” (which was better than winning a trophy, as far as I was concerned). Randy and I had beers and chased girls that night. He would have done the same to me.

I gave up martial arts around 1981, after competing as a black belt for a little more than a year. There was no money in it, and being a karate instructor was not something I aspired to do. It had been an important time of my life, but it was time to move on.

A Knack for Sales

I went to work as a salesman for a company named Blue Ribbon Foods. Blue Ribbon made and delivered bulk frozen food to individual homes. They would generate leads and turn them over to salesmen to close the deals.

Most of the work was in the early evening, leaving the bulk of my day free. I tried it initially because I didn’t want to work nine to five but still wanted to make a lot of money. Typically people who make a lot of money and don’t want to work a nine-to-five job are either really good salesmen or drug dealers. Drug dealing wasn’t a choice.

The guy I worked for at Blue Ribbon was named Irv Mann. Irv was an old-school direct salesman. He was Jewish, and in fact I was probably one of the only non-Jews Irv hired up to that time. Not only that, but I was under the age of fifty. Most of the other guys were all over fifty, Jewish, and old-school direct sales guys. Why Irv took a chance on me, I don’t know.

Direct sales as a whole tends to use the hard-core, one-time sales closer. If you’ve ever watched the movie Tin Men, you’ll see what I mean. The movie really caught what direct sales was like back then: pretty aggressive, don’t take no for an answer.

Irv showed me how to structure a pitch and read a potential sale, how to overcome objections, when to close and when not to close. He really taught me a lot.

I worked at Blue Ribbon until 1982. I made quite a bit of money doing it. I probably closed 30 to 40 percent of my calls, which made me one of the better salespeople in the company.

Why was I good at sales? I don’t know, really. Perhaps I had the ability to communicate, or convey a certain amount of trust to the person I was “pitching.” I give a lot of credit to Irv Mann. He trained me well. Whatever the secret was, I’ve had decent success as a salesman my whole life.

While I was working for Blue Ribbon, I was approached by someone who suggested I might make a good male model.

A model?

It wasn’t exactly a career choice I had ever considered. I didn’t think much about the idea—until I found out that it was good money, and I’d only have to work during the day, leaving the evenings for my sales calls. I went down to a modeling agency, did a couple of different test shots, and within a few weeks started getting jobs for places like Target, which was based in Minneapolis. Modeling was a way to make extra money, and it paid pretty well.

It’s also how I met my wife, Loree.


Romance

It wasn’t any of that love-at-first-sight stuff. In fact, I wasn’t really interested in a relationship at the time. But I did notice her instantly. She was hot—really hot. And this was in a room full of very attractive people. Little did I know this girl was going to become the love of my life and the mother of my children.

We hit it off right away. There was one stumbling block: Loree was not only a model, but part owner of an agency I was working with. And they had a “no fraternization” policy.

Yeah—right! I got her number, and we went out for drinks a week or two later. The relationship picked up pretty good steam from that point on, and pretty soon we were an item.

Loree had been modeling since she was four or five, and wanted to make a career of it. We knew if there was any future for either of us as models, it would be in Chicago or New York. We had some friends who’d moved to Chicago and really enjoyed it. We didn’t have anything holding us back, so we both decided to give it a whirl. We were both up for a change. We wanted an adventure. So we packed everything we owned into a 1970 pickup truck and moved to Chicago. It was in the winter, and it was cold and miserable and overcast, but we enjoyed every minute of it.

We found a studio apartment downtown. Loree got a job as a cocktail waitress at night so she could run around town and attempt to launch her modeling career during the day, and I got a job as a bartender and doorman down on Rush and Division Street in downtown Chicago so I could do the same thing. Doormen were bouncers, but they didn’t like to call them that on Rush Street.

Chicago was a cool town. We had a ball living there, but modeling is a very competitive business. After a year or so, we realized it wasn’t there for us.

Money got tight. Things got to the point just after Christmas that the power company shut off all the power to our apartment.

I was twenty-six, maybe closer to twenty-seven. I realized it was time to quit playing around and start thinking about the things I needed to do to build a life for myself.

The Middle of Nowhere, Minnesota

My father had an acquaintance who ran a company called Dahlman Manufacturing. I think largely as a favor to my dad, he offered me a sales job.

Dahlman made agriculture equipment, particularly potato harvesters, in a small town about an hour and a half north of Minneapolis called Braham. To go from living in downtown Chicago and working in the modeling and nightclub industry to a 1,500-person town selling potato harvesters; that may define culture shock.

For the first few months, I lived alone. Loree was back in Chicago, finishing up some modeling gigs. It was cold, stark, uncomfortable reality. A wood stove supplied the only heat in the small house I rented.

I didn’t like the job. It was okay, and it was in sales, which I was good at, so that portion of it I didn’t mind. And the people I worked with were good people. But they were so different than me that it was hard to fit in.

Most of the people in Braham had probably only left town a handful of times over the course of a year. To them, driving an hour and a half south to the big city of Minneapolis was a major excursion. I didn’t relate to any of them, other than the fact that I liked to hunt and fish, which was about the only thing to do up there other than drink.

But the job provided a weekly check and was a step in the right direction. It was necessary to transition into a more traditional job so I could move on to something better.

In the summer of 1983, I went to pick up Loree back in Chicago. We had a great celebration our last night, and then headed back to Braham. She was even more shocked than I was when she got there. But she tried real hard to adapt and make the most of it. That’s the way she is.


Baby on the Way

Not too long after Loree settled in, we found out she was pregnant, probably thanks to our little soiree that last night in Chicago.

Until that point, I had no intention of being married. I knew that Loree was the woman I wanted to be committed to, but marriage just wasn’t something I really gave a lot of serious thought to. Neither of us had any intention of having a child. When she found out she was pregnant, that was a defining moment of our relationship. She wasn’t sure what I was going to do or suggest what she should do. It wasn’t anything we had discussed.

I remember the day vividly. We were at my parents’ house, and Loree got up and took a pregnancy test. I was outside target shooting with my bow. Loree came out and told me the test was positive. Time stood still.

We went to a Perkins restaurant not far from my parents’ home, and sat together at the counter. She looked at me and said, “What do you want to do?”

“You first.”

We’d both decided, without knowing how the other one really felt, that we wanted to have the baby.

That changed everything quickly. For me, that crystallized where I was at in my life. I couldn’t keep fucking around. I had to get serious.

Wrestling Is Serious Business

The Purest Form of Entertainment

We didn’t have a lot of money. We were living in a two-bedroom house in the middle of nowhere with a wood stove for a furnace. It was very Little House on the Prairie.

We did little things to treat ourselves. On Sunday mornings, we would go to the supermarket, get some fake crab legs, a bottle of cheap champagne, some eggs, and have ourselves the nicest little brunch we could have for under twenty bucks. And typically we would watch Verne Gagne’s AWA wrestling on Channel 9 out of Minneapolis.

My wife tolerated a lot of things regarding me and my personality and the things I liked to do. (She still does.) But I remember her looking at me one day and saying, “Why do you watch this?”

“Honey,” I tried to explain, “in my mind, wrestling is the purest form of entertainment, and therefore the purest form of marketing that there is.”

Wrestling as Marketing

Maybe it was because of my sales background, but where my wife saw big guys in their underwear hitting other guys over the head with chairs, I saw a marketing opportunity. Intuitively, I knew that professional wrestling worked on a lot of different levels for a lot of different reasons. I saw story, I saw psychology, and I saw a unique way to connect with an audience.

I studied wrestling. I’d ask myself what people liked about a particular character. I pondered the ways it was different than everything else people watched. It was obviously successful and popular, and I thought often about why. I tried to understand why it worked so well.

The early 1980s were a time of big change in the wrestling business, even though I wasn’t aware of it. Vince McMahon was revolutionizing the business, using cable to deliver a national program. Cable was still very new, but Vince used it in what was then a radical way for wrestling. Until then, regional promoters like Verne Gagne and Vince’s father (called Vince Sr., though their middle names are different) made local television deals and, for the most part, stayed out of each other territories. They didn’t compete directly.

Vince changed all that by syndicating his show across the country and distributing the his wrestling show on nationwide cable. Instead of being confined to markets in the Northeast, it reached all over the United States, which among other things allowed advertisers to buy spots on his show and reach the whole country as well. He made a lot of other changes, but that was the big one. No one else would ever catch up—though maybe only Vince realized that at the time.

Back to Minneapolis

We spent about a year or a year and a half in Braham. Most of that time, people looked at us as if we were space aliens. We were that young couple who moved into Braham. No one ever moved to Braham. They might move out, but not in.

Soon after our son Garett was born, April 20, 1984, we decided it was time to move down to Minneapolis. We found a house to rent near my wife’s parents in an older section of north Minneapolis. I went back to Blue Ribbon Foods as sales manager, managing a sales force of fifteen people. It was another step in the right direction, résumé-wise.

My daughter Montanna was born in November 1985. By that time, Loree and I had married. While Montanna’s arrival was also unplanned, we both looked forward to having another child.

Irv Mann, my boss at Blue Ribbon, became—I don’t want to say a father figure, because that would be going too far—but certainly he was a mentor. We developed a very close relationship. He and his wife would spend weekends with us out at the lake during the summer.

We were enjoying ourselves and our young children, and life couldn’t have been better in many ways. Then one day a close friend of mine named Sonny Onoo came to me with an idea for a kids’ game. I had no idea, but my life was about to take a very unexpected turn.


Ninja-Star Wars

Sonny and I had first met back in my martial arts days. Born in Tokyo, Japan, he ultimately ended up in, of all places, Mason City, Iowa. He owned a couple of karate schools, was a top amateur martial arts competitor, and turned pro in kickboxing in the late 1970s.

One night he and I were sitting at a bar and drinking way more beer than we should have. We started talking about the games we’d played when we were kids. Sonny told me about a tag game they called ninja. He and his friends would take milk bottle caps or whatever they found in the street and fling them at each other like five-pointed martial arts stars.

From that conversation, he proceeded to invent a game based on the game he’d played as a kid. We called it Ninja-Star Wars.

Players wore a ninja uniform: a black felt vest and a headband. Each player had five ninja stars, which were made out of Velcro and weighted down with a two-penny washer in the middle. The stars stuck to felt on the vest. Kids would put the ninja uniform on and chase each other around until someone got all five ninja stars on his opponent.

We thought it was the greatest idea in the world and were sure we’d make millions of dollars selling it. We were so convinced that we each put every penny we had (and some that we didn’t have) into manufacturing the game. We found a manufacturer in Korea who would make these games for us, put them in boxes, the whole nine yards. But the economy of scale required meant our initial order was something like ten thousand games. We had a lot of friggin’ games manufactured.

We didn’t have a warehouse to keep them in. They were literally stuffed in every room of my house.

Sonny and I spent a couple of months trying to take them around to retailers, trying to get them on the shelves. That’s when we learned how the toy business really works. Stores allocate square footage to toys based on the distributor’s success in the marketplace. If you’re Mattel, you’re might get 60 percent of the shelf space. If you’re Hasbro, you might get 30 percent. If you’re Joe Blow’s toys, you get whatever’s left. And anyone else—Eric Bischoff and Sonny Onoo, for example—doesn’t get squat.

We decided to try and create a buzz. Every Saturday my wife and I stood in front of independent toy stores, throwing these ninja stars at each other. People would come up and ask what we were doing, and we’d tell them about the game. The stores wouldn’t inventory the game, but they would sell them that day while we were there.

It would have been years before we moved all that inventory. Fortunately, I came up with a better idea.

Wrestling to the Rescue

One afternoon while I was between appointments at Blue Ribbon, I stopped in at home. I happened to catch an AWA wrestling show on ESPN. Verne Gagne had recently begun airing his show on the sports channel, which was still relatively new.

While I was watching Verne’s show, I saw some PI spots— Christmas albums and that kind of stuff. PI stands for “per inquiry” and is direct-response sales. As an ad or an infomercial for a product airs, a number flashes on the screen. You call the number, you get the advertised item.

I said to myself, Wait a second. Here’s a guy who’s got a wrestling show that I know a lot of kids watch. It’s airing right in the middle of the afternoon. It’s the perfect way to sell Ninja-Star Wars.

The AWA is obviously in the PI business. Why don’t I go to Verne and cut a deal?

I knew that if I dropped the amateur wrestling card on the table, I’d get an appointment with Verne. And that was all I was hoping for, an opportunity to pitch him. From there I could rely on my sales skills to close the deal.

I picked up the phone, called directory assistance, got the number, and told whoever answered the phone at AWA that I was an amateur wrestler and wanted to talk to Verne Gagne.

Sure enough, she put me through.

“Mr. Gagne, my name is Eric Bischoff. You may not remember me, but I graduated from Minnetonka senior high school, I wrestled at 138 pounds my senior year tournament, I met you,” yada yada yada. “I’ve got this idea I really want to run by you.”

“Sure, kid Come on over. Let’s see what you got.”

Whether he was just the kindest person I ever met or what I had to say was interesting to him, I’ll never know. But I went over the next day.

The Man Himself

The whole idea of being in the office of the AWA, even at thirty-two, was really cool.

Verne had this table that was probably twenty-five feet long, and could fit maybe fifteen people around it. He sat at the far end. Greg Gagne, Wahoo McDaniel, Ray Stevens, a couple of secretaries, the accountant—everyone who worked in the office—gathered around the table to hear my presentation.

I put on one of the vests and headbands, gave another set to the receptionist, and started throwing stars around.

Verne got a big kick out of it.

“How does this work?” he asked.

“I cover the cost of the commercial out of my own pocket. You run the commercial on your show. I handle all of the fulfillment. The games cost me $8.45 each. We’ll sell them for twenty bucks each. You and I will split the profit, fifty-fifty.”

“Jeez, now that sounds like a great idea.”

I shot a commercial that was horrible, got an 800 number, and within a month we were selling games on ESPN.

It was relatively successful, but the economics weren’t as good as we wanted. No one was losing money, but no one made enough to make it really work. Ultimately Sonny and I decided to pull the plug.

But by then, I’d become somewhat familiar with Verne and Greg, and in particular with a guy by the name of Mike Shields. Mike had come up with Jerry Jarrett and had done everything from running cameras to helping with booking. He handled advertising and syndication for Verne, heading up the production department. The AWA production department wasn’t much—it was like three people and one camera. But they did a lot with what they had.

Mike and I developed a pretty good working relationship. He got a sense of what I was all about, and appreciated my energy and sales ability and just the way I operated.

For my part, I was extremely interested in what he did. I would ask a lot of questions, and he would explain for hours how something like syndication worked. I found it all very fascinating. One thing led to another, and a few months after I’d come to Verne with the Ninja-Star Wars idea, Mike offered me a sales job.

I snatched the opportunity in a heartbeat.

A Tough Place to Work

My first day was August 15, 1987. I didn’t start selling right away, though. First, I needed an office.

Verne’s operation was located in a one-story building that had once been a church. There were offices on one side of the building; the other was a large, open studio. The offices were all taken, so there was no place to put me. The only thing to do was to build a little office on the television side.

That was my first job. I took some two-by-fours and Sheetrock, and built a little freestanding cubicle not too far from the front door.

A few days after I was finished, all the wrestlers came to the studio to shoot promos. There were twenty, thirty guys in the studio, making a bunch of noise, cutting up, acting like wrestlers, all that happy horseshit. I was in my office, staying out of everybody’s way.

All of a sudden I heard Sheik Adan El Kaissey and Kevin “Nails” Wacholtz yelling and swearing at each other.

Kevin, by the way, was the first guy to ever beat up Vince McMahon over a payday dispute. He was jacked up at the time and not the sharpest knife in the drawer to begin with. He didn’t just play a hothead on TV; he was one in real life.

The wrestlers began shouting, “Whoaaaaa! Whoaaaa!”

I looked up just as Sheik’s head crashed through the Sheetrock beneath one of the photos on my wall.

I said to myself, Wow. This is pretty impressive.

And then: What have I gotten myself into?
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Smartening People Up

Lies and Bullshit

I’d like to take a minute to address some of the more blatant lies, inconsistencies, and bullshit that have been spread about me and my time at the AWA.

For example, if you look at a lot of the Web site information about me, my background—none of which was ever supplied by me—you’ll read that I took a job mowing Verne Gagne’s lawn. That, I assure you, never happened.

More seriously, people have said that I was the architect behind the Team Challenge Series, which was a cute little idea that was horribly executed and was a dismal failure. I had nothing to do with that. It was not my idea, and I was not involved in executing it, but for whatever reason, that disaster has been attributed to me. People have called me AWA’s booker, claimed I clashed with Verne over wrestling styles, even suggested I was the general manager.

None of it is true.


Behind the Curtain

During the time I was working with Verne, I had zero input—and I cannot emphasize zero enough—on anything that anyone had to do with anything on the screen.

I had no creative input. I was not asked for any creative input, and it didn’t even occur to me to offer any, because my role was primarily that of a sales and marketing guy. The only time I even saw most of the wrestlers was when they came into town maybe once or twice a month to shoot promos. And then I kept my distance.

Quite honestly, Verne was one of those old-school promoters who didn’t want to “smarten” anybody up, or explain the inner workings of the wrestling business to outsiders. He very much believed that the only people who needed to see what went on behind the curtain were the people who were behind the curtain. If you weren’t a wrestler or a referee or one of the bookers, you had no business knowing what was going on inside the ring. You couldn’t ask questions like, “Hey who’s going to beat the Crusher?” You ask that, you’d be shown the door.

Verne was very strict about kayfabe, or the secrets of the business, as the term is used today. If I happened to walk out of my office near the studio, and Verne was talking to a wrestler, he’d whisper in their ear so I couldn’t hear what they were saying.

I didn’t try to ease my way in behind the curtain. I knew my role and knew what I could do and should do.

For a year and a half, all I did was syndication and sales—and I was ecstatic to do that. It was probably the first time in my life that I was doing something that I wanted to do for an indefinite period of time.

The pay was about thirty thousand a year, less than I’d been making at Blue Ribbon, but it was regular. And it was doing something I loved, as opposed to something I was good at.


How the Business Side Worked

Verne’s operation at AWA had two main components—the live events or promotions in different locations, and television shows.

Primarily, Verne’s live event business was driven by local television markets. The more television stations or local markets that carried his show, the better the live event side of his business did. The TV shows gave you an opportunity to promote the events. That was the best way of advertising the shows. Posters and radio time, the other options, were pretty ineffective for wrestling. Fans have to know your characters and storylines. That’s the difference between wrestling and other live event businesses like the circus or music. That happens on the air.

OEBPS/images/f0008-01.jpg





OEBPS/images/f0006-01.jpg






OEBPS/images/f0012-01.jpg








OEBPS/images/f00ii_01.jpg





OEBPS/images/pub1.jpg





OEBPS/images/f000x-01.jpg





OEBPS/images/f0015-01.jpg





OEBPS/images/9781416527299_ci_std.jpg
ERIC
BISCHOFF

WITH
JEREMY ROBERTS

CONTROVERSY
CREATES CASH

ﬂ v,
L &
X3y rocxersiois NEW YORK LONDON TORONTO SYDNEY





OEBPS/images/pub.jpg





